ON wapp.

FILED

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK SUPRAME COURT

Deputy Clerk

CARLTON BLACK,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 77,130 DCA NO. 89-2912

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender

NANCY PEREZ
Assistant Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
The Governmental Center
301 N. Olive Ave. - 9th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-2150

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Defendant and Respondent was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

All emphasis has been supplied by Petitioner unless otherwise noted.

The following symbol will be used:

R = Record on Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Carlton George Black, Petitioner, was charged by information by the State of Florida on August 27, 1987, with possession of cocaine in Count I and possession of drug paraphernalia in Count II (R170). Petitioner was found guilty as charged as to both counts after a jury trial (R171). After appeal from this judgment of conviction on these counts, this court reversed and remanded for a new trial (R175), in the case of Black v. State, 545 So.2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989).

Petitioner was then retried on these counts.

A motion in limine was made that there be no mention that the structure Petitioner was found in was a crack house or to give opinions on the type of individuals that frequented this place. The prosecutor agreed and informed the court additionally he had instructed the officers not to mention the location was a high drug area (R3).

Officer James Polan, the state's first witness, testified to the following: That on August 11, 1987, he and his partner David Lewis, were in plain clothes, targeting narcotic transactions of buyers and sellers (R20-21). He was lead to approach the abandoned structure when he saw a "white male walking through the area" (R21). When asked why this had significance to him, Officer Polan responded that it is because it is a "high crime area" (R22). Appellant objected to this response and moved for a mistrial (R22). Appellant argued that "the whole idea, you don't want to inject the idea that this prior thing's going on there to prejudice the jury

such as crack house or high crime area" (R22). The judge denied the motion for a mistrial (R25). Petitioner declined the suggestion of a curative instruction (R25) because he felt it would exacerbate the situation (R23).

The state rested (R84) and Petitioner moved for a Judgment of Acquittal (R85). The court denied the motion (R93). Petitioner rested and renewed his motion (R96).

The jury returned a verdict of not guilty of possession of cocaine in Count I and guilty of possession of drug paraphernalia in Count II (R160-161).

Petitioner received a sentence of 365 days in Broward County Jail with credit for 365 days time served (R185).

Timely notice of appeal was taken from the above judgment and sentence (R186). On November 21, 1990, the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence and certified the following question as one of public importance:

Does the mere identification of a location as a hight crime area unduly prejudice a defendant who is arrested there?

On December 17, 1990, Petitioner timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. On December 31, 1990 this Court issued an order setting a briefing schedule for this cause.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The officer's remarks that he was targeting narcotics transactions for buyers and sellers, and that this was done in a "high crime area", were irrelevant and unduly prejudicial.

ARGUMENT

POINT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL WHEN THE OFFICER TESTIFIED HE WAS TARGETING NARCOTICS TRANSACTIONS, BUYERS AND SELLERS, IN A "HIGH CRIME AREA".

On direct examination of the arresting officer the prosecutor asked the officer if there was anything specific that he was targeting on the day of Petitioner's arrest (R21). The officer responded that he was targeting narcotic transactions for buyers and sellers (R21). The prosecutor then asked the officer what led up to his contact with Petitioner (R21). The officer stated that he "located several subjects inside an abandoned structure" (R21). In response to the prosecutor's question as to what led the officer to approach this abandoned structure, the officer responded that he saw a white male walking through this area (R21). Then, in response to the prosecutor's inquiry as to why this has any significance, the officer responded that "well this is a high crime area" (R22). Petitioner objected and moved for a mistrial (R22). The motion was denied (R25). The Fourth District Court of Appeal in rejecting petitioner's challenge to the erroneous admission of this testimony, certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

DOES THE MERE IDENTIFICATION OF A LOCATION AS A HIGH-CRIME AREA UNDULY PREJUDICE A DEFENDANT WHO IS ARRESTED THERE?

Petitioner submits that the appropriate answer is a qualified yes. The significant focus of this cause is really whether such evidence

is relevant to the issue of petitioner's guilt or innocence. Petitioner submits it is not. Further, any marginal relevance is far outweighed by the prejudicial impact of such testimony on the trier of fact.

A. TESTIMONY CHARACTERIZING THE LOCATION OF ARREST AS HIGH CRIME AREA IS ERROR.

In Gillion v. State, 15 FLW 72 (Fla. January 10, 1991) this Court clearly stated that it was error to admit testimony of the location of defendant's arrest. There is a body of case law finding error in the admission of the nature of a locale of dubious character where it was not of relevance to a material issue. Black v. State, 545 So.2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (error to admit testimony making references to base house and that vagrants are not normal people); Beneby v. State, 354 So.2d 98 (Fla. 4th DCA) cert. denied, 356 So.2d 1220 (Fla. 1978) (error to admit testimony that several narcotics arrests made at location of defendant's arrest for possession of heroin); Malcolm v. State, 415 So.2d 891 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) (error to admit testimony in defendant's trial for sale and possession of marijuana of prior unrelated sale of narcotics at same location as that involved in defendant's cause); Periu v. State, 490 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986) (in defendant's trial for grand theft of a motor vehicle, error to admit testimony that other stolen vehicles recovered at defendant's body shop); See also Eberhardt v. State, 550 So.2d 102 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (in defendant's trial for burglary, error to admit testimony that the same business was burglarized the night before the event in question); Blanco v. State, 452 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1984) cert. denied,

469 U.S. 1181, 105 S.Ct. 940, 83 L.Ed.2d 953 (1985) (in homicide prosecution, no error to exclude defense evidence that two (2) weeks earlier, an armed robbery occurred at a residence situated behind the home where the murder occurred upon a speculative defense theory that someone else may have done the crime)¹.

All relevant evidence is admissible unless excluded by law. \$90.402, Fla. Stat. To be relevant, evidence must prove or tend to prove a fact in issue. Stano v. State, 473 So.2d 1282 (Fla.) cert. denied, 474 U.S. 1093, 106 S.Ct. 879 (1985); \$90.401, Fla. Stat. Where however the prejudicial effect of such evidence overshadows any probative value relevant evidence must be excluded. \$90.403, Fla. Stat. Likewise, evidence which suggests an accused's criminal propensity but which does not tend to prove a fact at issue is inadmissible. Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla.) cert.denied, 361 U.S. 847, 80 S.Ct. 102, 4 L.Ed.2d 86 (1959); \$90.404, Fla. Stat.

It has long been held that while reference to a location may be relevant to a material issue, the nature of that location is not

¹ Error which arises from the admission of testimony of the reputation of a place as evidence of a defendant's guilt because he committed a crime at that location has been recognized in other jurisdictions. See State v. Tessnear, 265 N.C. 319, 144 S.E.2d 43 (N.C. 1965) wherein the court wrote:

North Carolina is included among those jurisdictions which hold "that evidence of the general reputation of defendant's premises is inadmissible in prosecutions for liquor law violations involving a charge of unlawful sale or possession of intoxicants at particular premises."

¹⁴⁴ S.E. 2d at 46.

necessarily also relevant. Young v. State, 141 Fla. 529, 195 So. 569 (Fla. 1939). In Young, this Court found that the defendant's street address was admissible in her trial for causing death by culpable negligence. It was, however, error for the prosecutor to argue that the street was situated in a "red light" district so as to infer that defendant was a whore. The testimony was irrelevant and constituted an improper attack upon the defendant's character which had not been placed at issue. The defendant's character was impugned through association with a particular area without showing the defendant's connection to that area other than that of mere residence. Admission of such evidence violates the rule excluding testimony which is "res inter alios acta". Roach v. State, 108 Fla. 222, 146 So. 240 (1933). As this Court recognized long ago in Watkins v. State, 121 Fla. 58, 163 So. 292, 293 (1935):

The rule "res inter alios acta" forbids the introduction against an accused of evidence of collateral facts which by their nature are incapable of affording any reasonable presumption or inference as to the principal matter in dispute, the reason being that such evidence would be to oppress the party affected, by compelling him to be prepared to rebut facts of which he would have no notice under the logical relevancy rule of evidence, as well as prejudicing the accused by drawing away the minds of the jurors from the point in issue (citation omitted).

In civil as well as in criminal cases, facts which on principles of sound logic tend to sustain or impeach a pertinent hypothesis of an issue are to be deemed relevant and admitted in evidence, unless proscribed by

² "A thing done between others or between third parties or strangers (citation omitted)" <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u>, 3d Edition (1933).

some positive prohibition of law. But this rule is always subject to the well-recognized exception that proof of collateral facts "resinter alios acta" are never to be admitted, especially in a criminal case where the facts laid before the jury to convict an accused person should consist exclusively of the transaction which forms the subject of the indictment and matters relating thereto, and which alone the defendant can be expected to come prepared to answer (citation omitted).

Absent a showing of some connection between the defendant, the infamous location of his arrest and the crime of which he is accused, prejudice results from the erroneous admission of testimony describing the nature of the area because the jury is lead to consider an improper "construction of inference upon inferences". State v. Norris, 168 So.2d 541, 543 (Fla. 1964).

B. THE ERROR IN THIS CASE WAS NOT HARMLESS.

Admission of this erroneous evidence which branded petitioner a criminal by virtue of his presence at an infamous local along with infamous others was not harmless error.

The prejudice which arises from the reference to evidence of guilt through association is so severe that it may not be cured by instruction. U.S. v. Romo, 669 F.2d 285, 289-290 (5th Cir. 1982). See also Finklea v. State, 471 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (where state introduces evidence of unrelated criminal activity failure to request curative instruction does not bar appellate review for the wrongfully admitted evidence is too prejudicial for the jury to disregard). Where collateral crime evidence is erroneously admitted, its harm is presumed. Straight v. State, 397 So.2d 903, 908 (Fla.) cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1022, 102 S.Ct. 556, 70 L.Ed.2d

418 (1981). This Court reaffirmed the rationale for this principle in Keen v. State, 504 So.2d 396, 401 (Fla. 1987):

As we explained over a half a century ago:

Evidence that the defendant has committed a similar crime, or one equally heinous, will frequently prompt a more ready belief by the jury that he might have committed the one with which he is charged, thereby predisposing the mind of the juror to believe the prisoner guilty (Citation omitted).

Harmless error analysis places the burden upon the state to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Application of the test requires record by the examination of the entire appellate court including a close examination of the permissible evidence on which the jury legitimately relied, could have and addition an even closer examination of the impermissible evidence which might have possibly influenced the jury verdict.

Id. at 1135. This Court revisited the focus of harmless error analysis in the context of collateral crime errors in <u>State v. Lee</u>, 531 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1988). Again, this Court approved the <u>DiGuilio</u> test. Even where the evidence is more than ample to support the verdict, an error may be harmful where it is significant to the state's case and may have affected the jury's verdict of guilt.

Due to the error the trier of fact is free to speculate that because a person is located in an area notorious for its narcotics sales, the accused too must be engaged in such illicit activity. The trier of fact may find the accused guilty not because of his conduct but by association with an area recognized for such activity. The tendency of the fact finder to convict based upon a

defendant's presence at the scene of a crime absent more is evinced by convictions which are later reversed due to such legally insufficient evidence. M.F. v. State, 549 So.2d 225 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989)³. Thus, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeal has repeatedly condemned efforts to suggest guilt by association for it encourages reliance upon improper innuendo rather than focus upon the defendant's guilt for the crime charged. U.S. v. Ochoa, 609 F.2d 198, 204-206 (5th Cir. 1980) (error to cross-examine defendant on bad conduct of family and friends); U.S. v. Forrest, 620 F.2d 446, 451 (5th Cir. 1980) (proof of defendant's guilt through association with kingpin husband); U.S. v. Singleterry, 646 F.2d 1014, 1018 (5th Cir. 1981) cert. denied 459 U.S. 1021, 103 S.Ct. 387, 74 L.Ed.2d 518 (1982) ("What is relevant is the long established rule that a defendant's guilt may not be proven by showing he associates with unsavory characters").

At bar the statements made that the officer was targeting narcotics transactions, buyers and sellers, in a high crime area are irrelevant to the issue of Petitioner's guilt or innocence. They do not tend to prove anything in issue, but can only serve to unduly prejudice the jury into believing that Petitioner has a propensity to commit drug crimes if he is in a reputed drug area.

These statements, when taken together, lead to the conclusion that the officers were targeting a reputed drug area. Although

³ Even the Supreme Court of the United States has paused to note that mere presence at the scene of a crime is insufficient proof to support a conviction. <u>U.S. v. Williams</u>, 341 U.S. 58, 64 n.4 71 S.Ct. 595, 599 n.4 (1951).

there are, of course, crimes other than drug buying and selling that the officer could have been targeting in this "high crime area", these were not the crimes being targeted. Drug crimes, buyers and sellers, in this "high crime area" were the focus of their operation.

This is contrary to the well settled rule in <u>Young</u>, <u>supra</u> for the nature of the area was of no probative value in resolving any material issue.

As pointed out in Beneby v. State, 354 So.2d 98 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), cert. denied 359 So.2d 1220 (Fla. 1978) the location where defendant possessed the drug is irrelevant. Id. at 99. At bar, it is irrelevant to the issue of guilt whether Petitioner possessed drugs in a "high crime" area or a low crime area. The fact that the officer was targeting buyers and sellers in a high crime area doesn't tend to prove anything in issue and could only serve to unduly prejudice the jury. See Beneby v. State, 354 So.2d 98 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), cert. denied 359 So.2d 1220 (Fla. 1978). In Beneby this court focused on testimony which alleged the area was a reputed narcotics area which was found to be irrelevant and prejudicial. Id. at 99. The clear thrust of the statements that the officer was targeting buyers and sellers of drugs in a high crime area, was that this was a reputed narcotics area. The only relevant inference that can be drawn from such statements is that Petitioner was guilty of this case through his association with a known drug area.

One may not exclude the likelihood that the impropriety did

not contribute to the verdict. <u>DiGuilio</u>, <u>Keen</u>; <u>Lee</u>. Thus, this Court should quash the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, reverse petitioner's convictions with directions to remand the cause for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court answer the certified question in the affirmative and reverse the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.