SID J. WHITE EEB , 1,1 1991 CLERK OURT ₿v Clerk eputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

4

CASE NO. 77,130

CARLTON BLACK,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SYLVIA ALONSO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 767190 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the appellee in the District Court of Appeal and the prosecution in the trial court. Petitioner was the appellant in the appeal proceedings and the defendant at trial.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court of Appeal except that respondent may also be referred to as the State.

The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal.

All emphasis has been added unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts Appellant's statement of the case and facts as substantially true and correct except as modified by the facts herein, and with the following additions and/or clarifications:

During his opening statements to the jury, defense counsel made the following arguments:

This is a situation where the police in their zeal, <u>in good intentions to</u> <u>clean up a neighborhood</u>, to <u>clean up an</u> <u>area simply go into a house and--</u> abandoned house and arrest everybody in sight, not only everybody on the inside of the house, but everybody on the outside.

It will not be our contention throughout this trial that the police had bad intentions or that they want to see innocent people go to jail, but this just looking to clean up the <u>streets</u> and if you're in a spot you shouldn't be, you're going--you're facing some charges, and that's the situation that developed and finally has been brought before you here today.

(Emphasis added)(R. 15-16).

Defense counsel later added that:

When the police finally just basically stormed in the house, went in there, they saw four people inside, and interestingly enough you will hear their testimony. Every single one of them was in the act of doing something illegal, which just happened to give them probable cause to arrest every single person in the house for possession of drug paraphernalia and I believe for possession of cocaine.

(Emphasis added)(R. 16).

- 2 -

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court below properly affirmed the trial court's denial of petitioner's motion for mistrial following a witness' statement that "...this is a high crime area." Insofar as the trial court sustained the objection, petitioner's assertion that the testimony was irrelevant and therefore inadmissible is unavailing. By the same token, petitioner's refusal to have the trial court give a curative instruction to correct the error waives appellate review of same.

Nonetheless, petitioner was not prejudiced by the comment. During opening statements, petitioner conceded that the officers were in the area to "clean up the neighborhood," and petitioner himself admitted that he was present in a vacant garage where narcotics were present and where people were ingesting same. Moreover, in light of the jury's finding that petitioner was not guilty of possession of cocaine, and given the uncontroverted evidence regarding petitioner's possession of drug paraphernalia, it is obvious that any error was harmless.

ARGUMENT ON APPEAL

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL FOLLOWING THE OFFICER'S STATEMENT THAT "THIS IS A HIGH CRIME AREA."

The exchange at issue before this Court relates to the following testimony by Officer James Polen:

Q: Okay. And what led up to your contact of that individual [Petitioner]?

A: Within that area, we located several subjects inside an abandoned structure.

Q: Okay. What led you to approach this abandoned structure?

A: We had a white male walking through the area of Northwest One Avenue.

Q: Why does that have any significance to you?

A: Well this is a high crime area--

(R. 21-22).

Petitioner objected to the above testimony; the trial court sustained same, and admonished the witness from testifying that he encountered petitioner in a high crime area (R. 22-27); however, petitioner rejected the trial court's offer for a curative instruction (R. 23, 25).

Petitioner claims that the trial court erred in denying his motion for mistrial because the officer's testimony regarding the area where petitioner was arrested was irrelevant. However, based on the exchange put forth above, it is clear that

- 4 -

the trial court recognized that the comment was irrelevant since he sustained petitioner's objection thereto. Indeed, even the prosecutor agreed that the testimony was improper (R. 24). As such, petitioner's argument that the testimony was inadmissible on relevancy grounds is unavailing.

To the contrary, the State maintains that any error was waived given petitioner's refusal to cure same by way of an instruction by the trial court. "The proper procedure to take when objectionable comments are made is to object and request an instruction from the court that the jury disregard the remarks." Duest v State, 462 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1985); Green v State, 557 So.2d 894, 895 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). Thus, in Robinson v State, 561 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), the district court held that the curative instruction given by the trial court corrected the error committed by the arresting officer's description of the area as a "high drug area," which was "well known for the sale of narcotics." Similarly in Huffman v State, 500 So.2d 349 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), the comment that, "officers have arrested many people using buses to transport drugs north" did not result in reversible error given the trial court's curative instruction as a result thereof.

Thus <u>sub judice</u>, any error which resulted from Officer Polen's remark could have been corrected by a curative instruction. <u>See Hellman v State</u>, 492 So.2d 1368 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); <u>Moore v State</u>, 418 So.2d 435 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). As a result, defense counsel's refusal to accept the trial court's

- 5 -

offer for an instruction or his failure to have the testimony stricken from the record waives appellate review of same. Wilson v State, 549 So.2d 702 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); Lara v State, 464 So.2d 1173, 1180 (Fla. 1985); Ferguson v State, 417 So.2d 639, 642 (Fla. 1982). Moreover, the complained of statement was not so prejudicial so as to vitiate the entire trial. As such, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying petitioner's motion for mistrial. Cobb v State, 376 So.2d 2230 (Fla. 1979); Salvatore v State, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1979).

Be that as it may, comments regarding the defendant's arrest in a high crime area is not per se reversible error. <u>Gillion v State</u>, 16 F.L.W. S72 (Fla. January 10, 1991); <u>Davis v</u> <u>State</u>, 562 So.2d 443 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990); <u>Jefferson v State</u>, 560 So.2d 1374 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Contrary to petitioner's assertions otherwise, <u>Gillion v State</u>, 16 F.L.W. S72 did not hold that it was error to admit testimony of defendant's arrest (See Petitioner's Initial Brief at 6). Indeed, this Court recognized that:

> Such testimony, although not directly relevant to a specific element of the crimes for which Gillion stood accused, is relevant to clarify for the jury why this is where a drug buy would be made. That information is relevant for the jury to place in context testimony bearing directly on the legal issues of the case. To compel the state to put its case in a factual vacuum, devoid of such necessary background information, would be a disservice to the fact finder. "[C]onsiderable leeway is allowed even on direct examination for proof of facts that do not bear

directly on the purely legal issues, but merely fill in the background of the narrative and give it interest, color, and lifelikeness." <u>McCormick on</u> <u>Evidence</u> §185, at 541 (3d ed. 1984).

Id.

In <u>Black v State</u>, 545 So.2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) the defendant's conviction was reversed where the officer testified that the defendant was arrested in a garage where "no normal people lived" and that the garage was a "base house" where numerous past arrests had been made. Likewise in <u>Beneby v State</u>, 354 So.2d 98 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), the defendant's conviction for possession of heroin was reversed as it was error to admit testimony that several narcotics arrests had been made at the location of the defendant's arrest.

Unlike the statements which constituted reversible error in <u>Black</u> and <u>Beneby</u>, the comment in the instant case was more amorphous, and did not single out petitioner or the specific location where he was arrested. Consequently the comments which constituted reversible error in <u>Malcolm v State</u>, 415 So.2d 891 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), <u>Periu v State</u>, 490 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), and <u>Eberhard v State</u>, 550 So.2d 102 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), which are relied on by petitioner, were prejudicial because the location was described in a manner consistent with the specific offense for which the defendant was being tried. However, the comment <u>sub judice</u> only described the area as "high crime," and thus did not specify the area in a manner consistent with the offense petitioner was charged.

- 7 -

Finally, petitioner was not prejudiced by the officer's characterization of the area as one of "high crime." The State did not capitalize on the comment in opening or closing statements, unlike defense counsel, who in opening statements conceded that police were there to "clean up a neighborhood, to clean up an area." (R. 15-16). Moreover, petitioner did not negate the fact that he was present in a vacant garage where cocaine was present and where people were ingesting drugs (R. 108, 110-111, 113, 116). Hence, the officer's comment was cumulative of the argument and testimony by petitioner.

A reading of the record at bar indicates that petitioner contested the possession of cocaine charge, and practically conceded that he was in possession of drug paraphernalia (R. 15-19, 123-130, 142-144). In light of the foregoing, petitioner was not prejudiced by the comment as evidenced by petitioner's acquittal of the possession of cocaine charge (R. 181). But for petitioner's testimony to the contrary, the unrefuted evidence was that when the officers entered the abandoned structure, they observed petitioner and a white male sitting across from each other on the floor around a small table; the white male had a cocaine base can to his mouth with smoke emitting from it, and he passed the can to petitioner; the officers observed petitioner at the instant that he took possession of the cocaine base can (R. 30-32, 39, 41, 46-47, 61, 68, 71-72). Therefore, in light of petitioner's acquittal for possession of cocaine and the evidence regarding petitioner's

- 8 -

possession of drug paraphernalia, it is clear that the complained of comment did not influence the jury's finding that petitioner was guilty of possession of drug paraphernalia. As such, any error was harmless. <u>Cicarelli v State</u>, 531 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1988).

CONCLUSION

ι. *

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities cited herein, Respondent respectfully requests that the Fourth District Court's decision below be AFFIRMED.